IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 67,595

INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE

NO. 84-176 (HONORABLE J. ALLISON DEFOOR, II)

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 18 1986

CLERK, SUBREME COURT

Only Dienty Chits

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

BURTON YOUNG, ESQ. NICOLAS A. MANZINI, ESQ.

Young, Stern & Tannenbaum, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 17071 West Dixie Highway North Miami Beach, Florida 33160 Telephone Number: (305) 945-1851

INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to Rule 2.140 of the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration, J. ALLISON DEFOOR, II, County Court Judge, Monroe County, Florida (hereinafter "Respondent") was commanded by this Court through its Order issued on February 18, 1986, to show cause why certain recommended action by the Florida Judicial Qualifications Commission (hereinafter "Commission") should not be taken. On March 14, 1986, Respondent filed his Response to Order to Show Cause which he now supplements with this brief.

This matter arose from proceedings which were had before the Commission with reference to Respondent's conduct while a judge, which proceedings resulted in the Commission's filing with this Court on February 5, 1986 a report and recommendation regarding the Respondent pursuant to Article V, Section 12, Constitution of the State of Florida, 1968, as amended, and the Rules of the Commission. The Commission has recommended that this Court publically reprimand the Respondent for certain conduct described in the Commission's Report and Recommendation that is allegedly and collectively violative of Canons 2, 3, 5 and 7 of the Code of Judicial Conduct.

Respondent urges this Court to reject the action recommended by the Commission.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 26, 1985 the Commission held a hearing in Tampa, Florida pursuant to Rule 6-B, Florida Judicial Qualifications Commission Rules (hereinafter "Rule 6-B") to determine whether there was probable cause to institute formal proceedings against the Respondent. As a result of said hearing, the Commission on September 6, 1985 served on Respondent its Notice of Formal Proceedings (hereinafter "Notice"). (A.1)1

The Notice set forth three counts. Count I charged that Respondent had improperly actively participated in political activity inappropriate to his judicial office and violative of Canon 7 of the Code of Judicial Conduct. Count II charged that Respondent had improperly utilized his judicial office and prestige of his office to advance the private and financial interest of himself and others with respect to the use of the "electronic leash" probation monitoring device and the sales and marketing thereof, in violation of Canons 2, 3 and 5 of the Code of Judicial Conduct. Count III charged that Respondent additionally violated Canons 2 and 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct by improperly establishing a uniform procedure pursuant to which traffic violators, without appearing in court, could pay directly to the Clerk of the Court double the statutory fine and thereby obtain an automatic withhold of adjudication.

On September 26, 1985, the Respondent filed his Answer (A.2) to the Notice. In his Answer, Respondent denied that he violated any Canon of the

References to the Appendix will be denoted as follows:

Code of Judicial Conduct and specifically denied that his conduct as set forth in the Notice demonstrated present unfitness to hold the office of judge.

Thereafter, on November 15, 1985, the Commission and the Respondent filed an Evidentiary Stipulation as to Facts (hereinafter "Evidentiary Stipulation") (A.3) and on November 26, 1985 the Respondent filed his Supplement to the Evidentiary Stipulation (hereinafter "Respondent's Supplement"). (A.4).

A hearing was held before the Commission at Dade County, Florida on December 3, 1985. The totality of the evidence heard and considered by the Commission consisted of the Evidentiary Stipulation and the Respondent's Supplement. The Commission determined that the Respondent was guilty of the allegations contained in Counts I, II and III of the Notice and accordingly entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

Thereafter, this proceeding ensued wherein this Court has commanded the Respondent to show cause why the recommended action by the Commission should not be taken.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Respondent, age 32, served as an Assistant Public Defender in the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit in Key West, Florida from September 1979 to December 1980 and served as an Assistant State Attorney in the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit in Key West, Florida from December 1980 to January 1983. In 1982 he was elected Judge of the Monroe County Court for the term January 1983-1987. He sits at the Marathon and Plantation Key Courthouses in Monroe County.

For his further Statement of the Facts, Respondent adopts by reference all facts set forth in the Evidentiary Stipulation and Respondent's Supplement.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

WHETHER CRITICAL FINDINGS OF FACT CONTAINED IN THE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION ARE SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE FREE OF SUBSTANTIAL DOUBTS AND INCONSISTENCIES.

II.

WHETHER RESPONDENT HAD THE RIGHT TO RELY, AND DID RELY JUSTIFIABLY, ON THE ADVISORY OPINIONS OF THIS COURT'S COMMITTEE ON STANDARDS OF CONDUCT GOVERNING JUDGES AND THIS COURT'S TRAFFIC REVIEW COMMITTEE AND WHETHER RESPONDENT ACTED IN GOOD FAITH IN RELYING ON THOSE ADVISORY OPINIONS AND IN APPLYING CERTAIN PROCEDURES OF LAW IN CASES BEFORE HIM.

III.

WHETHER THE DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMISSION WAS EXCESSIVE AND UNWARRANTED.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

L

With respect to Counts II and III of the Notice of Formal Proceedings, several critical findings of fact contained in the Report and Recommendation are not supported by clear and convincing evidence free of substantial doubts and inconsistencies.

II.

With respect to Counts II and III of the Notice of Formal Proceedings, Respondent had the right to rely, and did rely justifiably, on the advisory opinions of this Court's Committee on Standards of Conduct Governing Judges and this Court's Traffic Review Committee, and Respondent acted in good faith in relying on those advisory opinions and in applying certain procedures of law in cases that came before him.

Ш.

With respect to all counts of the Notice of Formal Proceedings, the public reprimand recommended in the Report and Recommendation is excessive and unwarranted.

- A. Respondent has violated no judicial canons with respect to Counts II and III and, accordingly, there is no basis for imposition of discipline by the Commission.
- B. The discipline recommended (public reprimand) is logically and legally inconsistent with the conclusions of law set forth in the Commission's Report and Recommendation.

ARGUMENT

I.

SEVERAL CRITICAL FINDINGS OF FACT CONTAINED IN THE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE FREE OF SUBSTANTIAL DOUBTS AND INCONSISTENCIES.

A. Count II

The misconduct of a judge that would be sufficient to justify the imposition of discipline must be established by clear and convincing evidence free of substantial doubts and inconsistencies. In re Boyd, 308 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1975).

The evidence adduced by the Commission consisted of the Evidentiary Stipulation and Respondent's Supplement and does not support the finding that the Respondent "improperly utilized his judicial office and the prestige of his office to advance the private and financial interests of himself and others." (Count II). That finding is unsupported in the specific factual recitations contained in the Report and Recommendation, and actually conflicts with the finding contained in Paragraph (o) at page 9 thereof that "others utilized Respondent's involvement to promote the electronic leash device." (Emphasis added).

Not only does the factual record fail to establish the allegation that Respondent "improperly utilized his judicial office and the prestige of his office to advance the private and financial interests of himself and others," but also it is evident that the Commission, in making its findings of fact, applied an

improper standard, i.e., a negligence standard, with respect to Respondent's For instance, at paragraph (q), page 11 of the Report and conduct. Recommendation, the Commission found "that the Respondent knew or should have known that his judicial office was being improperly used to promote the device in which he had a financial interest." (Emphasis added). Apparently, the Commission is attempting to premise the conclusion that the Respondent "improperly utilized his judicial office" for his own financial gain (implicitly an offense requiring scienter) on a finding that he "should have known" that other people were using his name to promote the electronic leash device. This is a tacit admission that the charge has not been established. Certainly, the unknowing sufferance of the activities of others violates neither Canon 2 ("a judge should avoid impropriety . . . in all his activities") nor Canon 3 ("a judge should perform the duties of his office impartially and diligently") nor Canon 5 ("a judge should regulate his extra-judicial activities to minimize the risk of conflict with his judicial duties"). (Emphasis added).

All three canons, Canons 2, 3 and 5, look toward the conduct of the judge himself, and do not suggest that a judge can be liable vicariously for activities of persons who are neither bound by the canons nor under his control.

With respect to Count II, the Report also emphasizes Respondent's supposed misrepresentation concerning his execution of a personal guarantee in connection with the line of credit of the corporation that developed the electronic leash. In Paragraph (r) at page 12 of the Report and Recommendation, "the Commission further notes that since July 26, 1985 Rule 6-B hearing, the Respondent incorrectly represented that he had not signed a

personal guarantee." In fact, the transcript of the Rule 6-B hearing (A.5) reveals, at pages 35-36, that Respondent told the Commission exactly what he knew about his obligation, i.e., "there is a note and I originally thought when I shared with Mr. Caruana that I was personally liable on it. I had the accountant check and he sent me a letter indicating that I was not, which relieved me very much." He went on to advise the Commission that the accountant had also looked into his wife's liability "and he [the accountant] indicated that she signed in capacity as the treasurer or secretary, one or the other, of the corporation, and that neither she nor I apparently - - none of us are apparently liable."

The Respondent went on to state that he was surprised, indeed shocked, by the accountant's letter. It should be pointed out that Respondent, from the moment that this investigation began, has given to the Commission's investigator his full cooperation and has disclosed everything that was requested of him. As suggested in the above referenced testimony, the Respondent "shared with Mr. Caruana" (the Commission's special counsel investigating this case) that he was personally liable on the note. However, he had the accountant check into this assumption, and was advised by the accountant that he was not personally liable. Based on the accountant's advice, he concluded that neither he nor his wife "are apparently liable." However, by the time this matter had been fully investigated by all parties, the Evidentiary Stipulation was presented to the Commission and signed by the Respondent acknowledging that review of the original document, (i.e., the line of credit) contains the Respondent's continuing guarantee (paragraph 10 at page 11 of the Evidentiary Stipulation).

It is apparent from the above chain of events that the Respondent initially told the Commission's investigator that he thought he was personally liable on the line of credit, received the letter from his accountant saying that he was not, and subsequently learned from examination of the original documents that he was. There is nothing in this series of events that justifies the Commission's characterization of his testimony as a misrepresentation. Here again, the Commission has misapplied a negligence standard finding that "Respondent knew, or should have known, whether he executed such a guarantee without reference as to whether his accountant recalled it or not." (Emphasis added). The Commission impugned Respondent for a lapse of memory and his justifiable reliance on an accountant's review of corporate affairs. Even if the negligence standard were the proper measure of his responsibility, how could any active professional be expected to recall with precision every document which he is required to sign in the course of securing bank credit?

B. Count III

Following the Rule 6-B hearing in Tampa, the Commission issued its Notice containing Count III which charged that Respondent "improperly established a uniform procedure pursuant to which traffic violators (speeders) could, without appearing in court, pay directly to the Clerk of Court double the statutory fine and thereby obtain an automatic withhold of adjudication in violation of Canons 2 and 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct."

Respondent and his counsel, Mr. Hendrick, understood this charge to be a criticism of the procedure created by the Respondent with respect to

withholding adjudication upon payment of double the fine. In fact, Paragraph 3 of Respondent's Answer is a general explanation of how the procedure was used by the Respondent, never even mentioning the "waiver information" (A.6) form.

Notwithstanding the omission of the "waiver information" form from both the Notice and Answer, the Commission's Report and Recommendation focused its attention on Respondent's alleged impropriety in using the "waiver information" form, which every county judge in Monroe County had been using (A.7) since no one apparently realized that it was outdated and prohibited by Rule 6.340 of the Florida Rules of Practice and Procedure for Traffic Courts.

The "waiver information" form was merely <u>inherited</u> by the Respondent; he did not establish it as a procedure. When in the course of these proceedings it came to the Respondent's attention that the use of the form was objectionable, he immediately informed his fellow Monroe County judges of its deficiency and advised that they discontinue its use.

It is grossly unfair to accuse the Respondent, as the Commission does in Paragraph (k) at page 15 of the Report and Recommendation of having "misrepresented to the Commission the nature of the form he had been utilizing." The form was not even mentioned in the Notice issued by the Commission with respect to its formal charges against Respondent. In point of fact, the Respondent had given the form itself to the Commission's special counsel during his initial investigation. Here again, the Commission has inserted in its Findings of Fact the "knew or should have known" test with respect to Respondent's use of the form, thereby making unknowing errors a violation of the judicial canons.

Therefore, critical findings of fact made by the Commission in its Report and Recommendation are unsupported by the record or, if partially supported, they are not supported by the degree of evidence required in this case. For instance, the record shows that the Respondent never authorized the Clerk of the Court to dispose of minor traffic offenders (charged with speeding) without judicial consideration of each case. It is further borne out by the record that the withhold adjudication procedure was not "automatic" because Respondent personally reviewed each affidavit and traffic citation to ascertain that the circumstances warranted withholding adjudication. Moreover, Respondent did not withhold adjudication, but instead rejected tendered pleas in cases involving aggravating circumstances such as speeding in school zones, or extremely high speed. This is further indicia of the case-by-case determinations made by the Accordingly, the record is rife with doubt and inconsistencies Respondent. insofar as the charge that Respondent actually violated Canons 2, 3 and 5 of the Code of Judicial Conduct.

II.

RESPONDENT HAD THE RIGHT TO RELY, AND DID RELY JUSTIFIABLY, ON THE ADVISORY OPINIONS OF THIS COURT'S COMMITTEE ON STANDARDS OF CONDUCT GOVERNING JUDGES AND THIS COURT'S TRAFFIC REVIEW COMMITTEE AND RESPONDENT ACTED IN GOOD FAITH IN RELYING ON THOSE ADVISORY OPINIONS AND IN APPLYING CERTAIN PROCEDURES OF LAW IN CASES THAT CAME BEFORE HIM.

A. Count II

The central flaw in the Commission's findings with respect to Count II is that it gives no weight to Respondent's before-the-fact inquiry to this Court's Committee on Standards of Conduct Governing Judges. Before he acquired any financial interest in the corporation that developed the electronic leash, Respondent set out in detail by letter to the Committee on Standards his involvement in the development of the electronic leash device and his desire to participate in the fruits of his labor if he could do so within ethical bounds. In its Opinion No. 84/3 (A.8), the Committee responded that all of its eight members "were generally of the opinion that you can enjoy the financial fruits of your endeavors," provided that certain problem areas were avoided. The replies of two members were quoted at length in the opinion. Both of the quoted opinions cautioned against the impropriety which would appear as a result of the purchase of the device in the Respondent's county, marketing within the confines of the Respondent's jurisdiction or "benefitting from sales of these devices" in his county.

In view of the specific admonitions of the Committee's opinion, it is difficult to understand the Commission's decision to disregard the opinion because it "nonetheless contains certain limitations which would prohibit the misuse of judicial office for financial gain." Those "certain limitations" were scrupulously followed by the Respondent, who neither allowed the device to be marketed in Monroe County nor took any active role in the business (marketing or otherwise) of the corporation.

Apparently, the Commission's real reason for chastising the Respondent's reliance on the opinion of this Court's Committee on Standards is that the Commission disagrees with that opinion. However, if a judge can be found guilty of unethical behavior notwithstanding his reliance on the specific opinion of this

Court's Committee, of what use is the Committee? The Commission correctly notes that the Committee's opinion is not binding on it. However, this Court's Order creating the Committee on Standards of Conduct Governing Judges states that the Committee's opinion may be considered as "evidence of a good faith effort to comply with the Code of Judicial Conduct."

Of course the Commission does not state that it rejects the Committee's opinion; rather it implies that the Respondent did not abide by "certain limitations" recommended in the opinion. However, because he <u>did</u> conform to those limitations, it is apparent that the Commission simply chose to reject the opinion. There is no justification for ignoring the good faith inherent in Respondent's prior submission of his proposed course of conduct for an advisory opinion. The obvious question presented is: would the Respondent have invested in the corporation that developed the electronic leash device but for the Committee's opinion?

The Commission should not have failed to recognize the Respondent's securing an advisory opinion as good faith evidence of his attempt to comply with the strictures of the judicial code. It should at least have expressed some reason for finding an absence of good faith. Because the Report gives no reason why the opinion was wrong, the Report, with respect to its findings on Count II, should be rejected.

Moreover, the Evidentiary Stipulation executed by the parties in lieu of testimony recites in pertinent part at page 12, paragraph 16 that "Judge DeFoor's involvement with the electronic leash has been utilized by others who have an entrepreneurial interest in the device." (Emphasis added).

The record establishes that Respondent was merely a stockholder, but neither a director nor an officer, of the corporation which developed the "electronic leash" and that he had no active role of any sort (and indeed was prohibited by general corporation law, as well as Canon 5, Code of Judicial Conduct, from taking an active part in the affairs of the corporation).

Accordingly, the finding that Respondent utilized his office and the prestige of his office to advance his financial interests and the interests of others is not borne out by the record.

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