IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,595

INQUIRY CONCERNING A JUDGE	:	
NO. 84-176 (HONORABLE J. ALLISON DEFOOR, II)	:	
J. ALLISON DEFOOR, II)	:	í

SID J. Verse APR 16 Ĺ CLERK, SUPALINE COURT By_____Chief Deputy Clark

010 5 8.26

COMMISSION'S REPLY TO RESPONDENT'S RESPONSE TO ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE AND ANSWER BRIEF OF COMMISSION

JOHN S. RAWLS, ESQ. General Counsel Judicial Qualifications Commission Room 102, The Historic Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 32301

ALBERT G. CARUANA, ESQ. Wright and Caruana, P.A. Special Counsel to the Judicial Qualifications Commission Suite 1000 Roberts Building 28 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Telephone (305) 371-7972

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The stipulated and agreed record supports the Report and Recommendation of the Commission that the Respondent should receive a public reprimand for his violations of the Code of Judicial Conduct. There is substantial and competent evidence supporting the Report and Recommendations of the Commission that the Respondent violated Canon 7 by openly supporting the candidacy of friends in public elections; that the Respondent violated Canons 2, 3 and 5 by improperly utilizing his judicial office and the prestige of his office to advance the private and financial interests of himself and others with respect to the use of the "electronic leash" probation monitoring device and the sales and marketing promotion thereof at a time when he owned stock in a for-profit corporation which markets said device, and that he failed to regulate his extrajudicial activities to minimize the risk of conflict with judicial duties, and that he failed to refrain from financial and business dealings that tend to reflect adversely on his impartiality and which exploit his judicial position; and that the Respondent violated Canons 2 and 3 by improperly establishing a uniform procedure pursuant to which traffic violators (speeders) could, without appearing in Court, pay directly to the Clerk of Court double the statutory fine and thereby obtain an automatic withhold of adjudication.

Furthermore, the public reprimand recommended by the Commission in this cause is the minimal discipline that this Court should impose, because the record and applicable law fully

- 9 -

support the recommendation and would be sufficient to support even more substantial discipline.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STIPULATED AND AGREED RECORD SUPPORTS THE REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE COMMISSION

As set forth with specificity below, the stipulated and agreed record amply supports the findings of fact and recommendations of the Commission that Respondent receive a public reprimand for his violations of the cited Canons.

Although Respondent argues that the findings are not supported by "clear and convincing evidence free of substantial doubts and inconsistencies", the uncontradicted evidence belies the contention. The findings of the Commission "are of persuasive force and should be given great weight". In re Leon, 440 So.2d 1267, 1269 (Fla., 1983), citing In re Crowell, 379 So.2d 107 (Fla., 1979), and In re LaMotte, 341 So.2d 513 (Fla., 1977). See also In re Gridley, 417 So.2d 950, 951 (Fla. 1982). Whether the findings "are supported by competent and substantial evidence", In re Leon, supra, at 1296, is quickly answered in the affirmative upon review of the uncontradicted evidence set forth in the Evidentiary Stipulation as to all Facts, (R. App. A.3), which contains admissions as to Respondent's improper conduct violative of the Canons. Where, as here, the Commission bases its Report and Recommendation upon a stipulated record containing admissions of the Respondent, the argument that the weight of the evidence does not support the recommended discipline is particularly unavailing as the admissions render the findings "free of

- 10 -

substantial doubt and inconsistencies".² The simple issue, then, is "do the admissions warrant the recommended discipline?" It is submitted that the answer is a resounding "yes".

While Respondent may attempt to attack certain isolated findings in the Stipulation as being insufficient to warrant discipline, it is clear that the uncontradicted facts in entire context warrant, indeed mandate, at least the recommended discipline. This Court has previously held:

> These findings are supported by clear and convincing evidence. Taken singly, some of these actions may appear innocuous, but taking them in their entire context, we conclude the Commission properly found that Judge Gridley . .failed to conduct himself in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the Judiciary. <u>In re Gridley</u>, 417 So.2d 950, 953 (Fla., 1982)

Respondent argues that "he has already been sufficiently punished" and the "punishment [should] fit the crime". <u>Brief of</u> <u>Respondent</u>, p. 18. However, this argument misses the mark, because "punishment" is not the goal of these proceedings:

> In short, the essence of the sanction imposed is not "punishment" but a reprimand based on grounds bearing a rational relationship to the interest of the State in the fitness of its judicial personnel. <u>In Re: Inquiry Con-</u> <u>Cerning a Judge, Kelly</u>, 238 So.2d 565, 569 (Fla. 1970).

Indeed, it may be argued that, in light of the uncon-

² In another case submitted to this Court pursuant to Stipulation, the Commission recommended a public reprimand, and this Court agreed with and approved the Commission's recommendation. Inquiry Concerning a Judge Re: Susan M. Tyler, 480 So.2d 645 (Fla. 1985).

tradicted evidence, a public reprimand in this case is too lenient as being "inconsistent with prior recommendations of the Commission and with prior action of this Court in matters involving lesser judicial misconduct". In re Lantz, 402 So.2d 1144, 1145 (Fla., 1981). However, the Commission was impressed with Respondent's apparent "contrite demeanor, cooperation and acknowledgement of the seriousness of his admitted conduct", and concluded thereon, "such occurrences will not likely be repeated in the future". Respondent now takes these statements and urges them as the very basis to support the argument that a public reprimand (or any discipline) for the admitted conduct would be "excessive and unwarranted" and unsupported. Such an argument is built on a foundation of shifting sand, and cannot stand.

Moreover, the Report and Recommendation of the Commission that a Public Reprimand be ordered, was expressly predicated upon the Commission's finding of "contrite demeanor, cooperation and acknowledgment of the seriousness of his admitted conduct" and the conclusion of the Commission that "such occurrences will not likely be repeated in the future". In the absence of those findings and conclusions, the Commission might very well have recommended that Respondent's conduct warranted a recommendation of removal from office. It is, particularly, the Commission's view that the issue of the likeliness of such occurrences being repeated in the future is the issue which sometimes provides the demarcation between a recommendation of public reprimand and a recommendation of removal from office. For example, in <u>Inquiry</u> Concerning a Judge, Judge Leonard A. Damron, Case No. 67,151, the

- 12 -

Commission in its Brief, supported its recommendation of removal from office because:

[the] Respondent was unable or unwilling to explain or justify his conduct, was often unconvincing and evasive, failed to acknowledge the seriousness and the gravity of even his admitted conduct and, with limited exceptions, demonstrated no contrition for his abuses. Brief of Commission, p. 2, <u>Inquiry</u> <u>Concerning a Judge, Judge Leonard A. Damron</u>, Case No. 67,151, Supreme Court of Florida.

The distinction, then, between the discipline recommended in the instant case and a case such as the <u>Damron</u> case, is found in the finding with respect to the acknowledgment of the seriousness of the activity and the likelihood that such activity will or will not occur in the future. If the Commission, in the instant case, is incorrect as to its finding with respect to the Respondent herein, a penalty more severe than public reprimand would be justified.

As set forth below, the uncontradicted record fully supports the Commission's Report and Recommendations and, at a minimum, a public reprimand is warranted.

A. AS TO COUNT I

It is significant that Respondent has failed to address the Commission's Findings of Fact as to Count I in his Response to Order to Show Cause or in his Initial Brief. Respondent's only comments upon the Commission's Report and Recommendation as to Count I is found in paragraph 1 and 2 of his said Response, which state in pertinent part:

> 1. "With respect to all counts of the Notice of Formal Proceedings. . .the discipline

> > - 13 -

recommended in the Report and Recommendation (public reprimand) is excessive and unwarranted."

2. "With respect to all counts of the Notice, the Commission has failed to consider or, if it did consider, failed to properly weight the evidence of mitigation in Respondent's favor."

The evidence as to Count I is based upon Respondent's admission that he actively participated in a political campaign seeking the defeat of a circuit judge and the election of his close personal friends. These uncontroverted facts are detailed in six and one half pages in the Evidentiary Stipulation as All Facts. Blatant examples of Respondent's highly improper conduct include the following:

 Judge DeFoor and Randall Winter and Richard Fowler are close personal friends. Randall Winter managed Judge DeFoor's campaign for County Judge. Stipulation at p. 3, 4.

2. Randall Winter was to have managed Richard J. Fowler's campaign for Circuit Judge; however, Randall Winter became a candidate for Public Defender and thus could not serve as campaign manager for Richard J. Fowler. Stipulation at p. 4.

3. Judge DeFoor attended at least two private meetings to discuss and plan campaign strategy for Richard J. Fowler's campaign for Circuit Judge. Judge DeFoor researched the status of a number of criminal appeals pending in the incumbent Circuit Judges' Division (Judge Chappell), found that a number of appeals had been pending for considerable time and suggested to the campaign group that he contact Patty Shillington, a Miami Herald reporter, and disclose to the Miami Herald Judge Chappell's failure to rule upon the appeals. Two members of the group suggested that such conduct would be inappropriate for a sitting judge. Judge DeFoor furnished to Mr. Fowler information derogatory to Judge Chappell that Judge DeFoor acquired in a meeting of judges. Stipulation at p. 4, 5.

4. Judge DeFoor told reporter Jim Rubino of Judge Chappell's delays in adjudicating appeals. Mr. Rubino mentioned said delays in an editorial. Stipulation at p. 6.

5. Judge DeFoor assisted, as a member of a "joint committee", in arranging a public political forum in the Plantation Key Courthouse that was held shortly before the election. The "joint committee" intended to ask pre-prepared questions. Judge DeFoor dictated questions on a tape and informed Randall Winter and Richard J. Fowler of the nature of the questions which would be put to them at the forum in advance of the forum. One of the questions asked Judge Chappell, which involved delay in adjudicating appeals, was prepared by Judge DeFoor. <u>Stipulation</u> at p. 6, 7.

6. Judge DeFoor assisted Randall Winter in putting up campaign signs. Stipulation at p. 7.

7. After the forum, Judge DeFoor went to "Harry's Place" with Richard J. Fowler and Randall Winter and their families for dinner. <u>Stipulation</u> at p. 7

8. During the campaign, Randall Winter and Richard J. Fowler, accompanied by Judge DeFoor, attended together the groundbreaking at the new Sheraton at Key Largo, and on the night of the Sheraton opening, Judge DeFoor invited Richard Fowler and

- 15 -

Randall Winter to a barbecue sponsored by Judge DeFoor's Episcopal Church. At this barbecue Judge DeFoor introduced Randall Winter as the "Public Defender" and introduced Richard J. Fowler as "running for Circuit Judge". Stipulation at p. 7.

9. Judge DeFoor and Attorney William DeVane (who shared a friendly relationship) had a discussion about the judicial campaign in which Judge DeFoor told DeVane that he was supporting Richard J. Fowler, and encouraged DeVane's support of Fowler. A campaign contribution was mentioned. <u>Stipulation</u> at p. 6.

10. It is apparent that Judge DeFoor's political activities in support of Winter and Fowler were well-known in the community. "A Few Voters Called the Shots", an article in the November 1984 edition of the Florida Keys Magazine, succinctly describes these activities:

> On the judicial side of the ballot, two other lawyers who had worked for State Attorney Zuelch, County Judge Allison DeFoor and Attorney Richard J. Fowler, were embroiled in the contest against incumbent Circuit Judge Bill Chappell. Fowler was Chappell's opponent and he had Judge DeFoor openly plugging his campaign in various meetings in the Keys.

> As the campaign came down to the wire in late August, it was apparent to a great number of the voters that a powerful alliance of legal talent was at work for Winter and Fowler. Observers viewed it as a concerted effort by a small group to gain critical positions inside the Monroe County Court System. <u>Stipulation</u> at p. 8.

ll. Judge DeFoor's assistance to Randall Winter and Richard Fowler included many discussions about tactical things which Judge DeFoor had learned from his own campaign, running the

- 16 -

gamut from how to put up signs and raise money, to the identification of campaign issues. Stipulation at p. 8.

In entering into a stipulation of facts (page nine, item 31, Stipulation as to All Facts), Judge DeFoor now acknowledges that "...his presence in a political campaign and his endorsement of a particular candidate are difficult, if not impossible, to distinguish and that 'there is not public and private distinction in the political activity of a Judge.'" This learned Respondent, who had authored many legal articles and lectured on legal matters, apparently failed to review the Code of Judicial Conduct, especially Canon 7.

Apparently Respondent's allegation that the Commission failed to properly weigh the evidence of mitigation is based primarily upon the fact that Respondent and Fowler are "closer than friends" that Respondent "...believed and strongly that Chappell's re-election would be a major setback to the criminal justice system...". (Respondent's Supplement to Evidentiary Stipulation R. App. 4). These "mitigating" factors are not considered valid. If they were, any judge could defend a clear violation of the Canons based upon the argument that friends were involved or the motive pure. Even assuming "pure motive", it is no defense to conduct violative of the Code of Judicial Conduct. Inquiry Concerning a Judge, J.Q.C. #77-16, 357 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1978).

It is submitted that the foregoing conduct of Respondent, a sitting Judge, in actively seeking the defeat of a Circuit Judge and publicly supporting the election of "closer than

- 17 -

friends" candidates, constitutes a flagrant violation of Canon 7 of the Code of Judicial Conduct.

B. AS TO COUNT II

Respondent admitted that he utilized his judicial office and the prestige of his office to advance the private and financial interests of others with respect to the use of the "electronic leash".

Beginning on page eight of said Stipulation as to Facts, Respondent detailed his lengthy involvement in this private project for financial gain, including his wife's endorsing a line of credit to the Barnett Bank of the Keys, Tavernier Branch, in the sum of \$12,500.00. On the 28th day of March, 1984, Respondent and his wife executed a continuing and unconditional guarantee for the payment in full when due all indebtedness of Controlled Activities Corporation to said Bank. (Commission App. 5) CONTRAC's initial line of credit was in the sum of \$50,000. <u>Stipulation</u> \$10, p. 11. Clearly on the 28th day of March, 1984, Respondent was personally liable to said bank in said sum.

It is submitted that Respondent has been less than candid in testifying before the Commission as to his financial interest in the electronic leash promotion. In his Appendix, Item 11, Respondent itemizes his extensive legal background; however, he apparently did not comprehend the individual legal liability to the said bank in the sum of \$50,000 when he executed the above instrument. On July 26, 1985, Respondent testified under oath before the Commission, viz:

> Q: Have you signed any notes? A: There's a note, and I originally thought

> > - 18 -

when I shared with Mr. Caruana that I was personally liable on it. I had the accountant check that, and he sent me a letter indicating that I was not, which relieved me very much.

- Q: Your wife was?
- A: No, sir. I had him check on that, as well, and he indicated that she had signed in capacity as the treasurer of the corporation, and that neither she nor I apparently--none of us are apparently liable. We pledged the stock to the bank, but of course the stock is only worth--
- Q: So the divestiture, then, could be affected without any loss except from a capital gains standpoint?
- A: Yes, sir.

BY MR. RAWLS:

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